STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Dorchester County

Honorable Doyet A. Early, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5702 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed December 31, 2019)

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

EDWARD PRIMO BONILLA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001725

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED
May 04 2020
SC Court of Appeals

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by holding that a direct appeal was not the proper mechanism for petitioner to challenge the trial court's ruling that petitioner gave defense counsel his "informed consent" to reveal the location where the decedent's body was located, since petitioner had the right to have the trial court's erroneous ruling heard on direct appeal, the record was adequately developed for appellate review, and post-conviction relief was not a co-equal meaningful avenue of relief where it was limited to an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel under the Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) standard which cannot not address the propriety of the trial judge's ruling on "informed consent"?

2.

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by holding that that petitioner gave defense counsel his "informed consent" to reveal the location where the decedent's body was located where the testimony during the suppression hearing revealed defense counsel thought there was "no reasonable alternative" to his "strategy" to reveal the location of the body under the circumstances, and that petitioner only acquiesced in trial counsel's plan because he thought he had no alternative?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Procedural history

Petitioner was indicted at the Dorchester County Grand Jury for the offense of murder. R. 621 – 622. His case was called to trial on Monday, August 8, 2016, before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III. Assistant solicitors Donald Sorenson and Ryan Templeton represented the state. Russell D. Hilton and Mandy Kimmons represented petitioner. R. 1.

On Thursday, August 11, 2016, the jury found petitioner guilty. R. 616, l. 23 – 617, l. 3. Judge Early sentenced petitioner to life imprisonment. R. 620, ll. 14-16.

The Court of Appeals affirmed petitioner’s conviction in State v. Bonilla, 429 S.C. 253, 838 S.E.2d 1 (Ct.App. 2019). App. 1. Petitioner sought rehearing which was denied on February 20, 2020. App. 32.

This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

Relevant facts

Petitioner met the decedent on an internet dating site. They went to a party and bonfire at the home of petitioner’s brother on April 4, 2015. A couple of days later a missing person’s case was opened on the decedent. Petitioner was later arrested for obstruction of justice, apparently because the police thought he was not forthcoming about his explanation of how the date with the decedent ended that evening. First Circuit public defender Mark Leiendecker was appointed to represent petitioner on the obstruction of justice charge. R. 8, l. 10 – 9, l. 9.

A pre-trial hearing was held on the issue of whether petitioner gave “informed consent” to his public defender, Mark Leiendecker, on May 8, 2015 to tell the police where the decedent’s body was located. Defense counsel Hilton argued under Rule 1.6 -- on attorney-client confidentiality, Rule 407, SCACR, that a hearing was required on the “informed consent” issue,

and the voluntariness of that consent. Defense counsel also noted it was obvious that prior counsel Leiendecker could no longer represent petitioner because he was a key witness who would have to testify. Rule 1.6(a) states: “A lawyer shall not reveal information relating to the representation of a client unless the client gives informed consent . . .” There was no allegation in the present case that any of the exceptions contained in Rule 1.6(b) of Rule 407, SCACR applied in this case. R. 2, l. 12 – 4, l. 3.

Counsel Leiendecker testified during the suppression hearing that he was a former part-time magistrate in Dorchester County before he became the Circuit Public Defender in 2008. R. 8, l. 10 – 9, l. 15. Petitioner was first arrested for obstruction of justice, and then the charges were upgraded to murder. On **May 8, 2015**, twenty-four days after the search warrants were executed in Charleston County -- that present defense counsel argued were illegal -- on the Hyundai Sonata and the work van, Counsel Leiendecker revealed to the police where petitioner told him he had hidden the decedent’s body. R. 9, ll. 16-19.

Defense counsel testified that he could not recall whether he discussed with petitioner disclosing the location of the decedent’s body to the police *on May 8, 2015, or before that date*. R. 9, l. 16 – 10, l. 23. Defense counsel offered that he thought petitioner should have understood the purpose of their meeting that day at the criminal investigative division located in a trailer behind the sheriff’s office. They met alone in a small conference room there. R. 10, l. 14 – 11, l. 21.

Counsel Leiendecker importantly clarified “before Edward and I met that day, *I did not have the information I provided to the Dorchester County sheriff’s office.*” R. 11, ll. 16-21. (emphasis added). Defense counsel said as a matter of “strategy” it was decided to reveal to the police where the decedent’s body was buried in a wooded area. R. 12, ll. 7-11.

Leiendecker said that petitioner showed him on his iPad, a map, where the decedent's body could be found. R. 12, ll. 15-25.

Apparently, counsel Leiendecker did all the talking with law enforcement **on May 8, 2015**, petitioner "did not speak to anybody in the sheriff's office that I remember." R. 13, ll. 1-4. Counsel met with petitioner in the sheriff's office conference room for twenty to forty minutes, and they "talked about the reasons that may be helpful or beneficial to his defense [to reveal the location of the body]." R. 13, l. 12 – 14, l. 7.

When defense counsel Hilton asked Leiendecker if there were any reasonable alternatives that he could have conveyed to petitioner other than revealing the location of the decedent's body, defense counsel answered: "**I don't remember that.** I remember that the discussion of **my strategy** for [and] the reason that it might be **beneficial** to his case if that's what you're talking about. **And there was no reasonable alternative to that purpose.**" R. 14, ll. 2-14 (emphasis added). Leiendecker made the disclosure to Captain Phinney. He said he felt petitioner was "on board with this disclosure and the reasons why it was beneficial to him." R. 14, ll. 8-21.

The judge then questioned Leiendecker:

- Q. What were those beneficial strategies that you anticipated receiving if you made the disclosure?
- A. Your Honor, **the only reason or purpose for this disclosure was so that an autopsy could be performed on the body**, and without the location of the body that would've been impossible. Without going further into any legal discussions or strategy, that was the purpose. Now, if Your Honor wants further detail and you direct me to answer that, I guess I would have to.
- Q. Did you discuss with him the **potential harm** of disclosing the location of the body? I.e. what he would be faced with, charged with? What was he charged with at that time?

- A. At that point, Your Honor, **he was already charged with murder. And we did discuss how he had been charged with murder without the victim's body having been found.** And as Edward and I discussed, it related to evidentiary issues provided in discovery from the Dorchester County Sheriff and/or Solicitor's office that included DNA locations that were solely under the control of Edward.
- Q. So, specifically, what harmful consequences did you discuss with him of the disclosure, if any?
- A. The obvious fact that **it would be difficult or impossible for him to deny that he knew what happened to Ms. Pegram following their separation on the night in question when they had been together;** that it would put him at the scene of what was alleged to be a murder; and that it would open him up even in a best case scenario to other charges including possible charge of desecration of human remains.

R. 15, l. 4 – 16, l. 7. (emphasis added).

On cross-examination by Counsel Leiendecker's attorney, Mr. Murphy, counsel offered "I was confident and felt firmly convinced that Edward was not only giving me truthful information, but that he understood I was going to reveal that to Captain Phinney, and that I had his consent to do it." R. 17, l. 19 – 18, l. 6. Leiendecker said he continued to represent petitioner until the first of the year, when it became clear he had a conflict because he was a witness. R. 18, ll. 12-22.

Petitioner also testified during the suppression hearing. Petitioner said he was arrested on the night of **April 15, 2015**, the day the search warrant was issued in Dorchester County. R. 20, ll. 14-22. Petitioner testified that he told Leiendecker "my story of what happened. That was in our first meeting. Petitioner said his second meeting was at the courthouse after he was charged with murder, and the third meeting was at the CID office at the jail on **May 6, 2015** the day the

location of the body was disclosed. R. 21, l. 3 – 22, l. 8. The following occurred on direct examination of petitioner:

Q. And did that conversation, was it regarding the disclosure of the body?

A. It was -- from what I remember from that phone call conversation is I remember just giving my cell -- after I disclosed to him, told him the story of everything that happened, **I really was not aware that he was actually going to do go to the detectives and tell them, you know, I have this information.**

Q. All right. Well, pause a second because I want to focus on that telephone conversation, okay. We're gonna get to the other part.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. But tell me about the telephone conversation. What was the discussion there regarding disclosure of the body?

A. Okay. I remember coming out of my cell and going up to the front where the booking area is. Mr. Leiendecker made a very -- to the CO's there, made it clear that he wanted a private line; one that was not, you know, was not recorded, and he wanted me to speak to him in privacy. So they took me from the booking area to -- I would assume it was someone's office. So I talked to him on that line. **And basically told me the detectives were on their way to come pick me up to take me to the CID unit to disclose the location of the body.** During that conversation, I, you know, I was kind of distraught, you know, a little confused that this was already happening. **Because, honestly, I believe I did not give him permission to do this** or was under the impression that he was going to do this. It was through that conversation that I found out that this was happening. And, you know, that's when -- I can understand through the conversation that we had that **it was not something that I really had knowledge that was going to happen.**

R. 22, l. 1 – 23, l. 8 (emphasis added).

The following also occurred between defense counsel Hilton and petitioner:

Q. Okay. Did he talk about the ramifications of disclosing the body?

A. **He just told me the benefits.** You know, when I think back, there were these benefits of what this was and, you know, pretty much I don't want to say he backed me into a corner to do this **because I already felt as if this was already in motion.** And for him to go there and tell him this and then me to say, "I didn't do this," or, you know, it just didn't seem -- it just didn't seem like the right thing that was going on, or ---

THE COURT: What was not the right thing?

THE WITNESS: For me just to back out and say, "I don't know where the body is." **If he's already gone to them and told them, you know, "I do know where the location is," and, you know, I felt like I had no choice to be honest, Your Honor.**

R. 24, l. 24 – 25, l. 14. (emphasis added).

Petitioner said he thought he had been backed into a corner because he told his attorney "If I can't make you believe what happened with this situation then how am I going to be able to convince a jury." R. 25, l. 16 – 26, l. 1. The following also occurred on direct examination of petitioner:

Q. And the question that I had for you was at any point in time did you agree with him that it was the best course of action?

A. **If I did agree with it, I was not aware that that came out of my mouth. Because like I said, I gave him the information of what everything happened because at the time he was my attorney.** *And, you know, just with you as well, I told my story, said everything that happened.* And then after that, you know, it was probably maybe a week or so after that meeting, that's when I was getting called downstairs with the telephone conversation with him. And that's when, you know, he basically told me that the detectives were on their way to come get me.

R. 26, ll. 2-14. (emphasis added).

On cross-examination, petitioner said he did not remember Leiendecker telling him the possible detriments to revealing the location of the body to the police. Petitioner repeated he felt like he had been backed into a corner by the defense counsel, and “I just felt like if he had already went [gone] to them and told them this, that it would just be bad for me to deny any of it after he’s already spoken to the detectives about this.” Petitioner also said by the time of his meeting where the location of the body would be disclosed, petitioner said: “I didn’t have many questions at that point.” Petitioner said under the circumstances described above, he was “on board” with disclosing the information. R. 28, l. 6 – 29, l. 15.

The McClure v. Thompson, 323 F.3d. 1233 (9th Cir. 2003) analysis

Judge Early then ruled that the issues were whether petitioner consented to the disclosure, and whether his consent was informed consent. R. 30, ll. 2-11. The judge cited McClure v. Thompson, 323 F.3d. 1233 (9th Cir. 2003) as instructive on the issue of “informed consent.” The judge said McClure was the roadmap for his ruling. The judge ruled petitioner gave informed consent and that defense counsel Leiendecker did not violate Rule 1.6(a), of the Rules of Professional Responsibility. The judge suggested, given his ruling, that the parties stipulate to the fact that the location of the body was disclosed to the prosecution by the defense. This would prevent the necessity of counsel Leiendecker testifying. R. 30, l. 2 – 31, l. 5.

Once the judge ruled that petitioner agreed to disclosure of the locations of the decedent’s body after giving “informed consent” the court correctly assured defense counsel that he was “protected” in entering into the stipulation, R. 83, l. 24 – 84, l. 25:

AST. SOL. SORENSON: The stipulation is that attorney Mark Leiendecker is the Chief Public Defender in Dorchester County. Originally, Mr. Leiendecker was appointed to represent Mr. Bonilla in this case. On May the 8th of 2015, attorney Mark Leiendecker contacted Captain

Tony Phinney and informed Captain Phinney that his client may have information about the location of the remains of Ashley Pegram. The defendant was transported to the Criminal Investigations Office so that he could meet with Mr. Leiendecker. After Mr. Leiendecker and Mr. Bonilla met for approximately 20 minutes, Mr. Leiendecker met with Captain Phinney with an electronic notebook displaying a map. Mr. Leiendecker gave a general location of where they would discover the body of Ashley Pegram near Brown Town Road and Seven Mile Road in Harleyville, South Carolina. This disclosure was made by Mr. Leiendecker with the consent of Mr. Bonilla.

R. 259, l. 19 – 260, l. 10.

The Autopsy Report

Dr. Nicholas Batalis, the pathologist, testified that the decedent was found “nude from the abdomen down.” She had black electrical tape “on the body that was out of the ordinary. One was around the right wrist. There was some black electrical tape that was wrapped around the wrist. R. 373, ll. 2-25.

There was tape “that was wrapped around the neck of the decedent when I examined the body.” “To remove the tape, I then made a cut through it . . .” R. 377, ll. 9-13. Doing a sexual assault protocol was “[n]ot possible to do in this case because all of the tissue, the anus, the vagina, all of that tissue around there was absent.” R. 380, ll. 3-20.

The body was badly decomposed but Dr. Batalis said “there were fractures on both sides of the thyroid cartilage. And that is an injury that we will see somewhat commonly in manual strangulation or if there was some sort of severe blunt force trauma to the neck.” The body was “suspicious for injuries in the scalp.” R. 382, ll. 2-23. Dr. Batalis opined the decedent was killed by “homicidal violence.” Dr. Batalis said the decedent’s death was the result of violence

against her, he again noted the electrical tape, blunt force injuries, bleeding into the scalp, suspicions of asphyxia, “and the scalp defect.” R. 387, l. 5 – 390, l. 7.

How the Disclosure Further Played Out

In his closing argument, the solicitor told the jury that that the defense had an ulterior motive for petitioner’s prior lawyer, Mark Leiendecker, telling the police where the decedent’s body could be located. “This is through the lawyer not Mr. Bonilla telling law enforcement this. And I can only kind of guess that, you know, a little bit of the story his former lawyer had involved, you know, I hit her with a car [accidentally]. I mean, if we help you find the body, *hopefully we’ll find evidence when they do the autopsy that’s going to support that; that’s going to support your story* and then we can maybe try to work this thing out. Well, I can’t even imagine the surprise when, you know, *the autopsy reports come back and she’s not clothed. She’s got multiple injuries to her head. She’s got black electrical tape wrapped around her neck and around her wrist.*” The solicitor said petitioner and the defense put the family through five weeks of “absolute hell,” with petitioner’s lies. R. 604, l. 8 – 605, l. 6. (emphasis added).

Addressing the jury after the verdict, the judge said: “I commend the jury for their courage in seeing through the fabricated story, in my opinion, that was presented by the defendant. I found his testimony to be highly incredible, void of any truth.” R. 619, ll. 16-22.

Other Trial Evidence

Petitioner’s cell phone was seized from the company van pursuant to the search warrant. Dorchester investigator Adam Smith testified that petitioner sent a text message to his boss on April 4, 2015 at 4:53 a.m. -- after his date with the decedent -- stating that he was sick, and that he would not be in that day. Smith also testified that petitioner sent his employer another text

message at 6:38 a.m. on Monday, April 6, 2015, saying he was still sick but that he would be in to work the next day. R. 305, ll. 6-24.

Smith further testified that petitioner's brother apparently sent him a message on April 3, 2015 at 7:37 in the evening -- before the bonfire party -- that he had marijuana. R. 306, l. 8 -- 307, l. 11. The cell phone seized from the work truck also revealed on April 3, 2015 at 9:23 p.m. that petitioner was near the decedent's residence. R. 313, ll. 9-16.

Smith also testified that on the morning of April 4, 2015, between 6:42 a.m. and 7:12 a.m., that petitioner's cell phone was pinging in the general area of Harleyville, South Carolina, near Brown Town Road where the decedent's body was located after petitioner disclosed its location. R. 315, ll. 11-22.

Petitioner testified that he met the decedent on a dating site. R. 460, ll. 1-11. They had a date on the night of April 3, 2015, for his brother's bonfire party. The decedent drank at the bonfire party. R. 462, l. 15 -- 479, l. 6. Petitioner said the decedent was intoxicated after the party, and they stopped at the Sunoco gas station so she could use the restroom. This was captured on a security camera and was contained in the search warrant application for the car. R. 623 -- 635.

Once they got back on the road, the decedent told petitioner to stop somewhere along the road so that she could go to the bathroom again. When the decedent got out of the car to go to the bathroom near a wooded area, petitioner said he locked the doors because he could not control the decedent because she was drunk. R. 462, l. 15 -- 479, l. 6. Petitioner's sister, Brandy Chance, admitted that the decedent sometimes acted as if she were bipolar when she drank alcohol. Chance said she did not know if the decedent was ever formally diagnosed as bipolar. R. 115, l. 11 -- 116, l. 1.

Petitioner said when he backed his car up to leave after locking the decedent out. He accidentally “bumped” her with his car while backing up to drive away. Petitioner got out of the vehicle to investigate, and the angry decedent tried to hit him repeatedly. Petitioner said he restrained the decedent by grabbing her in a “bear hug,” and that she finally stopped trying to hit him. Petitioner then let her go and was surprised when she went limply to the ground. R. 475, l. 18 – 490, l. 16

Petitioner testified that he panicked, he did not know what to do, and he put the decedent in the trunk of the Hyundai. He drove away thinking about what to do. R. 475, l. 18 – 490, l. 16.

The decedent’s body was ultimately transferred into his work van, and petitioner dumped the body off in secluded location. However, petitioner went back, and picked up her body, and put in the back of the van. Petitioner admitted that he drove the van to a wooded area, dug a shallow grave with assistance of a board in the back of the work van, and he buried the decedent there. R. 460, l. 1 – 491, l. 13. Petitioner admitted he tried to “cover his tracks,” which included a fake text message to the decedent saying he was sorry he left her and drove away but that she was drunk and out of control. R. 486, l. 10 – 488, l. 3.

Petitioner said disclosed the “location where Ashley was located, and . . . [with the assistance of his prior lawyer] “[h]e was able to kind of get in the general location of where I was at. And then I used his iPad to kind of retrace my steps and go back to that place.” R. 488, l. 1 – 489, l. 19.

1.

The Court of Appeals erred by holding that a direct appeal was not the proper mechanism for petitioner to challenge the trial court's ruling that petitioner gave defense counsel his "informed consent" to reveal the location where the decedent's body was located, since petitioner had the right to have the trial court's erroneous ruling heard on direct appeal, the record was adequately developed for appellate review, and post-conviction relief was not a co-equal meaningful avenue of relief where it was limited to an allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel under the *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) standard which cannot not address the propriety of the trial judge's ruling on "informed consent"

The Court of Appeals held that a direct appeal was not the proper mechanism to determine this legal issue:

First, even if Bonilla could demonstrate that he did not give informed consent, we do not believe this court could provide appropriate relief. At trial, Bonilla moved to suppress his statement to Leiendecker disclosing the location of Ashley's body. However, we note the exclusionary rule is meant to deter improper police conduct. *See State v. Brown*, 401 S.C. 82, 92, 736 S.E.2d 263, 268 (2012) ("[T]he exclusionary rule's sole purpose is to deter future [constitutional] violations [by law enforcement] and []where suppression fails to yield 'appreciable deterrence,' exclusion is 'clearly . . . unwarranted.'" (emphasis added) (quoting *Davis v. United States*, 564 U.S. 229, 237 (2011))). Here there was no improper police conduct to deter by suppressing Bonilla's statement, as Bonilla alleged that his attorney, not law enforcement, acted inappropriately. Additionally, even if the statement could be suppressed, we do not find that this would preclude the admission of evidence gathered when Ashley's body was discovered. *Cf. United States v. Patane*, 542 U.S. 630, 633-34 (2004) (holding that, in the context of a *Miranda* violation, the exclusionary rule only applies to testimonial and not physical evidence); *see also Nickel v. Hannigan*, 97 F.3d 403, 409 (10th Cir. 1996) ("[C]ourts have refused to apply such a broad evidentiary rule of exclusion to breaches of privilege."); *United States v. Marashi*, 913 F.2d 724, 731 n.11 (9th Cir. 1990) (stating in dictum "that no court has ever applied [the 'fruits of the

poisonous tree'] theory to any evidentiary privilege"). As such, because Bonilla is challenging the actions of his attorney, his claim regarding Rule 1.6 would best be addressed in an action for ineffective assistance of counsel¹, which this court is precluded from hearing on direct appeal. *See Matter of Chapman*, 419 S.C. 172, 182, 796 S.E.2d 843,847 (2017) ("Thus, on direct appeal, [appellate courts] will not consider claims involving ineffective assistance of counsel.").

Second, this court's scope of review is limited by the evidence in the record on appeal. *See* Rule 210(h), SCACR ("Except as provided by Rule 212 and Rule 208(b)(1)(C) and (2), the appellate court will not consider any fact [that] does not appear in the Record on Appeal."); *see also Sanders v. Salley*, 283 S.C. 458, 460, 322 S.E.2d 829, 830 (Ct. App. 1984) ("This [c]ourt does not sit as a trial court to receive evidence on disputed issues of fact; our function is to review the judgment of the circuit court for reversible error based on the issues and evidence presented to that court."). Thus, this court's review is limited to the testimony provided by Bonilla and his attorney, who took care not to reveal the substance of his confidential discussions with Bonilla. Without more information regarding what Bonilla and his attorney actually discussed, this court cannot find that the circuit court's determination regarding informed consent was "clearly wrong." *See Parker*, 381 S.C. at 74, 671 S.E.2d at 622 ("In criminal cases, appellate courts are bound by fact finding in response to preliminary motions . . . where the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by an error of law." (quoting *Asbury*, 328 S.C. at 193,493 S.E.2d at 352)).

If Bonilla believes he did not give Leiendecker informed consent to disclose the location of Ashley's body, post-conviction relief ("PCR") would be the proper mechanism by which to adjudicate this issue for several reasons. First, in PCR, Bonilla could challenge the finding that he gave informed consent and seek appropriate relief by bringing a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel. *See Matter of Chapman*, 419 S.C. at 181, 796 S.E.2d at 847 ("[T]he legislature provided an alternative procedure by which criminal defendants must assert claims regarding ineffective assistance of counsel: post-conviction relief (PCR). "). Second, the PCR court could receive additional evidence regarding the issue of

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