RECEIVED

Jun 03 2020

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

429 S.C. 253, 838 S.E.2d 1
Opinion No. 5702

THE STATE,.....RESPONDENT

v.

EDWARD PRIMO BONILLA,.....PETITIONER

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
Appellate Case No. 2016-001725

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TOMMY EVANS, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 65282
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

DAVID PASCOE

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly decided that they did not have the ability to decide because a direct appeal is not the proper mechanism for the Petitioner to challenge the trial court's finding that Petitioner gave informed consent to his attorney to disclose the location of the victim's body.

Petitioner argues that the Court of Appeals erred in deciding that a direct appeal was not the proper mechanism to challenge a finding that the trial court gave "informed consent" for the release of the information regarding where the victim's body could be found. During a pre-trial motion the Petitioner argued that his original counsel failed to receive "informed consent" prior to releasing information regarding where Petitioner hid the victim's body. He argued that his counsel violated Rule 1.6 of the rules of professional conduct.

Rule 1.6 of the rules of professional conduct specifically states:

A lawyer shall not reveal information relating to the representation of a client unless the client gives informed consent, the disclosure is impliedly authorized in order to carry out the representation or the disclosure is permitted in paragraph (b).

Rule 1.6 RPC

In order for that attorney to reveal privileged information, it must be by "informed consent."

Pursuant to the South Carolina rules, "informed consent" includes:

The agreement by a person to a proposed course of conduct after the lawyer has communicated reasonably adequate information and explanation about the material risk of and reasonably available alternative to the proposed course of conduct.

Rule 1.0(g), RPC, Rule 407 SCACR

The Petitioner argues that the court erred in not recognizing that there was insufficient "informed consent." This would be a matter that the Petitioner is requesting an initial appeal regarding a statement given to his attorney and not law enforcement. The exclusionary rules sole purpose is

to deter future constitutional violations by law enforcement and where suppression fails to yield 'appreciable deterrence' exclusion is 'clearly unwarranted.' *State v. Brown*, 401 S.C. 82, 92, 736 S.E.2d 263, 268 (2012). This was not a custodial interrogation where this information was given by the Petitioner to law enforcement. This was information given to his attorney that was later relayed to law enforcement. If the Petitioner has a cause of action against his counsel, that should be addressed through post-conviction relief initially and then possibly on appeal to the court of appeals upon a final determination.

In the United States Supreme Court case of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984) the Court determined the standards that must be met in order for a counsel's representation to be deemed ineffective. There is a two pronged test in evaluating allegations of an ineffective assistance or counsel. First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires a showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires a showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. *Washington*, at 466 U.S. at 687. The defendant must also reveal that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced him such that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) The Petitioner made the argument that his case would have been different if not for his counsel revealing the privileged information disclosing the location of the victim's body. This is an argument regarding the actions of his counsel and not an action regarding a violation of the constitution by law enforcement. Since this is an argument against

the actions of his attorney and not law enforcement relief must be sought through post-conviction relief.

Within their opinion the Court of Appeals stated that through post-conviction relief, evidence not placed in the record can still be considered. As it stands now only evidence placed in the record can be considered by the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals does not sit as a trial court to receive evidence on disputed issues of fact; their function is to review the judgment of the circuit court for reversible error based on the issues and evidence presented to that court. *Sanders v. Salley*, 283 S.C. 458, 460, 322 S.E.2d 829, 830 (Ct. App. 1984). No evidence was introduced during trial revealing why counsel provided this evidence, it just revealed that it was given to the law enforcement. In a post-conviction relief action, further evidence could be provided revealing a possible violation of privilege. The post-conviction relief court may receive proof of affidavits, depositions, oral testimony or other evidence and may order the applicant brought before it for a hearing. S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-80 (2019). Post-conviction relief was designed for an inmate to identify any mistakes, or purposeful errors that has cause that inmate to be convicted. This is the only avenue that would be available and not a direct appeal. It must be done through post-conviction relief, this is the most appropriate measure to address the release of confidential information by the Petitioner's counsel. The decision of the Court of Appeal's was correct, there exists no error. This petition for certiorari should be subject to dismissal.

The Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the decision of the trial court that the Petitioner gave "informed consent" to his attorney to reveal the location of the victim's body.

The Petitioner also argued that the Court of Appeals erred in deciding that there was sufficient evidence in the record supporting the trial court's decision that "informed consent" was given prior to the release of the location of the body.

In making his decision the trial court applied the ninth circuit court of appeals decision of *McClure v. Thompson*, 323 F.3d 1233 (2003). In *McClure*, the court decided that, “the professional standard that allows disclosure of confidential communications when ‘the client consents after consultation’ has two distinct parts: consent by the client and consultation by the counsel.” *McClure*, 323 F.3d at 1243. There was a pre-trial hearing where the Petitioner requested the trial court to exclude confidential evidence due to the Petitioner not giving “inform consent.” The evidence presented revealed that the Petitioner was informed, and decided to allow this information to be released to law enforcement.

During this pre-trial motion the Petitioner’s original attorney Mark Allen Leiendecker testified as to what occurred prior to the release of this information to law enforcement. Mr. Leiendecker testified that he informed the Petitioner that there was a risk in giving this information. He informed the Petitioner of the fact it would be impossible for him to deny he knew what happened to the victim that night, that this would place him at the scene, and he would be facing further charges. (R. p. 16 lines 1-7) Mr. Leiendecker testified that he had several conferences with Petitioner but he never knew any information regarding the location of the victim’s body until it was given to him at the sheriff’s department. They discussed strategy and the reasons that it may be beneficial to the case and that there was no reasonable alternative. (R. p. 14 lines 11-14) But the Petitioner never disagreed he just asked questions. Mr. Leiendecker testified that he felt by the time he reported the information to law enforcement the Petitioner was on board and knew the reasons it could be beneficial to him. (R. p. 14 lines 18-21)

The Petitioner testified during this pre-trial hearing that he did discuss revealing the location of the body, but he just did not know that he was going to be brought to the police station to reveal this information. He stated that he felt that he was backed into a corner when he

was brought to the police station, (R. p. 22 lines 6-8) that he thought it was already in motion so he had to give them the information. (R. p. 25 lines 3-5) But he also testified that he thought it was the best course of action. (R. p. 26 lines 3-5)

At the conclusion of this hearing the trial court decided that they would believe the attorney over the Petitioner. The court found that the attorney's testimony was more credible than the Petitioner's, whose testimony was based on assumptions and speculation. The trial court found that not only did the Petitioner give consent for his counsel to make these disclosures as to where the body was located but he went over all the benefits that can be conferred upon disclosure as well as the potential harm. The court decided that based on testimony, and that consent was informed with full legal guidance with full cautionary explanation as to the benefits as well as harmful consequences of disclosure, hence making the consent informed. So the court decided to allow this information into evidence. (R. p. 31 lines 1-17)

The Court of Appeals found that the circuit court did not err in finding that the Petitioner gave his counsel his informed consent to disclose the location of the victim's body. *State v. Bonilla*, 429 S.C. 253, 276, 838 S.E.2d 1, 13 (2019). The Court of Appeals is bound by the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). There is no evidence in the record that reveals that this was an erroneous decision. Attorney Leiendecker testified that on multiple occasions he met with the Petitioner and explained the benefits as well as the detriments in relinquishing this information. He testified, that not only did the Petitioner understand but he was always on board. The Petitioner testified himself that he thought it was the best course of action. According to the record this was an informed decision. There was no other determination the court could have made than there existed "informed consent;" therefore, allowing this information to be released

to law enforcement was lawful. The decision of the trial court was not erroneous but lawful. The Court of Appeals made the proper decision affirming the decision of the trial court. This petition for writ of certiorari was should be subject to dismissal.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits Petitioner has failed to reveal that the question presented warrants certiorari review. The Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari and let stand the decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the trial court.